Syracuse University SURFACE

Chemistry - Faculty Scholarship

College of Arts and Sciences

7-1-2012

# Understanding How the Platinum Anticancer Drug Carboplatin Works: From the Bottle to the Cell

Anthony J. Di Pasqua University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill

Jerry Goodisman Syracuse University

James C. Dabrowiak Syracuse University

Follow this and additional works at: https://surface.syr.edu/che

Part of the Chemistry Commons

## **Recommended Citation**

Di Pasqua, Anthony J.; Goodisman, Jerry; and Dabrowiak, James C., "Understanding How the Platinum Anticancer Drug Carboplatin Works: From the Bottle to the Cell" (2012). *Chemistry - Faculty Scholarship.* 42.

https://surface.syr.edu/che/42

This Article is brought to you for free and open access by the College of Arts and Sciences at SURFACE. It has been accepted for inclusion in Chemistry - Faculty Scholarship by an authorized administrator of SURFACE. For more information, please contact surface@syr.edu.

Inorganica Chimica Acta 389 (2012) 29-35

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect

# Inorganica Chimica Acta

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ica

# Understanding how the platinum anticancer drug carboplatin works: From the bottle to the cell

Anthony J. Di Pasqua<sup>a</sup>, Jerry Goodisman<sup>b</sup>, James C. Dabrowiak<sup>b,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Division of Molecular Pharmaceutics, Center for Nanotechnology in Drug Delivery, Eshelman School of Pharmacy, The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Genetic Medicine Building, Rm. 1042, 120 Mason Farm Road, Chapel Hill, NC 27599, United States <sup>b</sup> Department of Chemistry, Syracuse University, CST, Rm. 1-014, 111 College Place, Syracuse, NY 13244, United States

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Available online 24 January 2012

Dedicated to Prof. Jon Zubieta.

Keywords: Carboplatin Self-association Mechanism of action Carbonate

## ABSTRACT

Carboplatin, a platinum anticancer drug used to treat many types of human cancer, contains a bidentate dicarboxylate chelate leaving ligand, a structural feature that makes it much less chemically reactive than the first-generation platinum anticancer drug cisplatin, which contains two monodentate chloride leaving ligands. In water, carboplatin exists in a monomer-dimer equilibrium with an association constant of K ( $M^{-1}$ )  $\approx$  391, a property that accounts for the long-term stability of its readyto-use infusion solution. When administered in the clinic, carboplatin is believed to exert its biological effects by interacting with genomic DNA and proteins. The slower substitution kinetics of carboplatin, compared to cisplatin, has prompted investigators to focus on mechanisms by which the compound can be activated in vivo. Carbonate, which is in equilibrium with hydrogen carbonate, carbonic acid, and dissolved carbon dioxide, is ubiquitous in biological systems, and is found in high concentrations in the blood, the interstitial fluid, and the cytosol. Activation of carboplatin by carbonate,  $CO_3^{2-}$  $(k_1 = 2.04 \pm 0.81 \times 10^{-6}$  in 24 mM carbonate buffer, pH 7.5 at 37 °C), for example, leads to the formation of platinum species that are more cytotoxic than the parent drug. This short review focuses on the reason for the unusual stability of carboplatin in its aqueous ready-to-use infusion solution, describes the reactions of the drug with biologically common nucleophiles and summarizes the activation chemistry that make the drug more reactive toward substances present in the biological system.

© 2012 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.



Anthony J. Di Pasqua was born in 1981 in Utica, NY, and obtained his B.S. in biology at Utica College of Syracuse University in 2003. He is a bioinorganic chemist with a Ph.D. in chemistry from Syracuse University (2008), where he worked in the laboratory of James C. Dabrowiak, Ph.D., and postdoctoral training in tumor biology under Fung-Lung Chung, Ph.D. (Georgetown University, 2008–2010), and molecular pharmaceutics and nanotechnology under Michael Jay, Ph.D. (University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, 2010–2011). Anthony is currently a Research Assistant Professor in the Center for Nanotechnology in Drug Delivery and the Division of Molecular Pharmaceutics, in the Eshelman School of Pharmacy at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. He is interested in platinum-based chemotherapeutics, nanomaterials for use in drug delivery and therapy.He is the recipient of Syracuse University's College of Arts and Sciences Doctoral Prize.

\* Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 315 443 4601. *E-mail address:* jcdabrow@syr.edu (J.C. Dabrowiak).



Review





Jerry Goodisman has been on the faculty of Syracuse University since 1969, and is now Professor of Chemistry. He was born in Brooklyn, NY and received his B. A. from Columbia College, and his M. S. and Ph. D. from Harvard University, under the direction of Prof. William Klemperer. A theoretical/physical chemistr, he has worked on new methods for calculating molecular electronic structure, quantum statistical theories for molecules, electrochemistry, metal surfaces, theories of particle agglomeration, and the physical chemistry of drugs. In recent years, most of his work has been in collaboration with experimentalists, particularly Prof. J. Dabrowiak and Prof. J. Chaiken (Syracuse University). With Prof. Dabrowiak, Goodisman has contributed to understanding the mechanism of action of anticancer drugs, particularly the platinum drugs. With Prof. Chaiken, he has helped in the development of algorithms which make it possible to measure blood properties noninvasively.



James C. Dabrowiak has been on the faculty of Syracuse University since 1972, where he is now a Professor of Chemistry. He was born in South Bend, IN, and received his B.S. from Purdue University, his M.S. and Ph.D. from Western Michigan University under the direction of D. W. Cooke and post doctorial study at The Ohio State University with D. H. Busch. In 1985 he was an American Cancer Society Scholar at Roswell Park Cancer Institute, Buffalo, NY and the Max Planck Institute for Biophysical Chemistry, Göttingen, Germany. He is the author of the textbook, Metals in Medicine, which address the chemistry, biochemistry and pharmacology of metal containing agents for detecting and treating disease. He has investigated the mechanism of action of a wide range of anticancer drugs, including bleomycin, daunorubicin, cisplatin, carboplatin, and oxaliplatin. Along with Prof. J. Goodisman, he developed quantitative footprinting analysis for studying drug-DNA interactions.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	30
2.	Self-association of carboplatin in its ready-to-use infusion solution	30
3.	Transport of carboplatin	31
4.	Activation of carboplatin	32
	4.1. Chloride and phosphate as activating agents	32
	4.2. Activation in carbonate buffer	32
	4.3. Interaction of carboplatin with amino acids	34
	4.4. Interaction with GSH and MT	34
5.	Conclusions	34
	References	35

#### 1. Introduction

Carboplatin, *cis*-diammine(cyclobutane-1,1-dicarboxylato)platinum(II), Fig. 1, is a platinum anticancer drug used for treating many types of human cancer [1–5]. While details of its molecular mechanism of action are not completely known, carboplatin is believed to exert its biological effects by interacting with cellular targets such as genomic DNA, tubulin, and other proteins [6–8]. Carboplatin was developed by Barnett Rosenberg and colleagues in the early 1970s to improve upon the clinical performance of the first-generation platinum anticancer drug cisplatin, *cis*-diamminedichloroplatinum(II), Fig. 1 [6,9]. Since carboplatin was found to be much less oto-, neuro-, and nephrotoxic than cisplatin [1,6,10], it was ultimately approved as a drug in 1989 under the brand name Paraplatin.



Fig. 1. Chemical structures of carboplatin and cisplatin.

Carboplatin contains a bidentate dicarboxylate chelate leaving ligand, a structural feature that makes the compound much less chemically reactive than cisplatin [10]. The pseudo-first-order rate constant,  $k_1$ , for the reaction of carboplatin with water, a reaction that involves the displacement of one "arm" of the cyclobutane-1,1-dicarboxylate (CBDCA) chelate ring from the Pt<sup>2+</sup> ion by a water molecule, spans an unusually wide range, with values of  $k_1$  ranging from approximately  $5 \times 10^{-7}$  s<sup>-1</sup> to less than  $10^{-9}$  s<sup>-1</sup> at 37 °C [11– 14]. Although there is also discrepancy in the reported rate constant for the displacement of one of the chloro ligands of cisplatin by water [12,15], the fact that  $k_1$  for the hydrolysis of carboplatin is about two orders of magnitude smaller than the corresponding hydrolysis rate for cisplatin has prompted investigators to focus on mechanisms by which carboplatin may be activated in chemotherapy. This short review focuses on the reason for the unusual stability of carboplatin in its aqueous ready-to-use infusion solution, describes the reactions of the drug with biologically common nucleophiles and summarizes the activation chemistry that make the drug more reactive toward substances present in the biological system.

# 2. Self-association of carboplatin in its ready-to-use infusion solution

The ready-to-use infusion solution of carboplatin contains  $10 \text{ mg mL}^{-1}$  (approximately 27 mM) platinum complex dissolved in water alone, water containing mannitol or dextrose, or water

containing a small amount of the free CBDCA [16,17]. When the drug is administered to the patient in the clinic, the ready-to-use infusion solution is diluted in 5% aqueous dextrose or glucose to the appropriate therapeutic concentration, and the resulting solution is infused into the blood of the patient. A striking feature of the ready-to-use infusion solution is that the formulation is quite stable, with a shelf-life of 2 years [16]. While some degradation occurs during this period, it is relatively modest and independent of excess CBDCA ligand that is present in some formulations [17]. Analysis shows that the degradation products of carboplatin are ring-opened structures and hydroxo/aqua species not having the CBDCA ligand. Although the hydrolysis rate constant for carboplatin is easy to measure, the values in the literature span an unusually large range suggesting that the conditions under which the rate measurements were made, especially the total concentration of drug in solution, may influence the rate with which carboplatin reacts with water.

Earlier, we used 110 µM <sup>15</sup>N-labeled carboplatin and [<sup>1</sup>H, <sup>15</sup>N] HSQC NMR to obtain a hydrolysis rate constant for carboplatin of  $k_1 \approx 5 \times 10^{-7} \,\mathrm{s}^{-1} \,(37 \,^{\circ}\mathrm{C}) \,[11]$ , which agreed very well with the rate constant obtained by Brandšteterová et al. at the same temperature using a 300 µM solution of carboplatin [12]. The latter study also measured the rate constant at 25 °C, finding agreement with the value of  $k_1$  measured by Tobe and coworkers who used approximately 500 µM drug to study hydrolysis [13]. An unusually small rate constant of  $k_1 < 10^{-9} \text{ s}^{-1}$ , which is the only reported value that is consistent with the two year shelf life of the ready-to-use infusion solution of carboplatin, was measured by Sadler and coworkers using <sup>1</sup>H NMR and 20 mM drug [14]. While there was no mention in the early hydrolysis studies involving carboplatin that the value of  $k_1$  may be dependent on the total drug concentration in solution, it now appears that carboplatin forms an association dimer in water which, since the dimer resists hydrolysis, is the reason for the high stability of the concentrated ready-to-use infusion solutions of the carboplatin [18].

A dimer of carboplatin was reported by Burns et al., who used liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry to analyze a solution containing approximately 300 µM drug [19]. While the existence of a dimer was only mentioned in passing in the report, the work showed that the association complex is stable in a mobile HPLC phase containing hydrogen-bond disrupting solute molecules. In another report, Guo and coworkers studied relatively high concentrations of carboplatin (3 mM) using mass spectrometry and reported the existence of a dimer, trimer, and tetramer of the drug [20]. The dimer of carboplatin was also observed in mass spectroscopic studies by Vivekanandan et al. [21] and later by us [18,22]. Although mass spectrometry is an ideal way to detect association complexes, solution samples that are injected into the spectrometer are condensed. This can lead to an increase in solute concentration thereby inducing molecular associations that may not be present under normal solution conditions.

Recently, we used proton NMR to study the self-association of carboplatin in solution by measuring the integral of the NH resonance at  $\delta$  4.17 ppm of carboplatin, associated with the two symmetry-equivalent NH<sub>3</sub> molecules of the drug, as a function of the total drug concentration in solution [18]. When the concentration of carboplatin is high, the NH integral is large and near the value expected for the compound (6H) but when the concentration of drug is low, the signal at 4.17 ppm integrates for fewer than six protons. In order to explain the change in the integral with drug concentration, it was postulated that carboplatin exists as an association complex at high concentration, the nature of which blocks the exchange of the NH protons with the protons on solvent. However, at low concentration, the drug exists mainly as a monomer that has exposed NH protons. These protons rapidly exchange with the protons of solvent making the NH resonance of the monomer

unobservable. By fitting the magnitude of the integral as a function of drug concentration to various association models, it was found that carboplatin exists in a monomer–dimer equilibrium in water with an association constant of  $K (M^{-1}) \approx 391$ . Since the structure of the dimer prevents exchange of the NH protons with water, it is also likely to block the attack of water at the Pt<sup>2+</sup> ion in hydrolysis, which is the reason that concentrated solutions of carboplatin are stable. Using the determined value of *K*, the ready-to-use aqueous solution carboplatin (27 mM) contains approximately 81% of the more stable dimer which is the reason for the long shelf life of the drug formulation.

A clue that carboplatin can undergo self-association in solution is evident in the single crystal X-ray structure of the drug that shows that individual molecules are connected to each other through an extensive network of intermolecular hydrogen bonds [23]. In particular, hydrogen bonds exist between the ammonia molecules of one complex and the oxygen atoms of the dicarboxylate CBDCA ligand of neighboring complexes. Since elements of this hydrogen bond network could persist in concentrated aqueous solution, it is easy to see that a drug dimer is possible and, while dilution would drive the equilibrium toward the more reactive monomeric form, a small amount of carboplatin dimer could be present in cell culture studies done with carboplatin, and it could be circulating in blood (~100  $\mu$ M carboplatin) of patients receiving carboplatin in chemotherapy [24].

#### 3. Transport of carboplatin

Xie et al. used size exclusion chromatography in combination with inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (SEC-ICP-MS) to measure the kinetics of carboplatin binding to human serum albumin (HSA) and  $\gamma$ -globulin (IgG) in the blood of cancer patients [25]. While the sites of platinum binding were not determined, the study found that the second-order rate constants for binding to HSA and IgG are k = 0.74 and  $1.01 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ min}^{-1}$ , respectively, at 37 °C, both of which are smaller than the rate constant for the reaction of cisplatin with HSA. In a more recent study, Sooriyaarachchi et al. employed size exclusion chromatographyinductively coupled plasma atomic emission (SEC-ICP-AES) to study the binding of carboplatin to proteins in plasma of healthy male and female volunteers [26]. The study showed that carboplatin binds to HSA and possibly also to  $\alpha_2$ -macroglobin with a rate that is slower than that of cisplatin, with only 40% of carboplatin being bound to proteins after 24 h.

After passing through the blood, carboplatin appears to enter the cell through passive diffusion [27,28], although it may enter via active transport or through ion channels as well [28,29]. Work done by Osella and coworkers suggests that carboplatin enters the cell via a passive diffusion mechanism [27]. These authors demonstrated that after 24 h of exposure to carboplatin, the accumulation ratio (the ratio between intracellular [drug] and extracellular [drug]) of carboplatin in MCF-7 cells is not dependent on the initial concentration of drug present in culture medium.

The main copper transporter in human cells is the *trans* membrane protein, hCtr1. While this protein is important in the transport of copper into the cell, Howell and coworkers suggested that hCtr1 may also be involved in the transport of platinum drugs into the cell [30]. An important feature of hCtr1 is its exposed extracellular portion that contains methionine- and histidine-rich domains. This region is critical for binding copper and, as has been suggested, also the platinum drugs for their ultimate transport into the cell. In an effort to elucidate the transport mechanism involving hCrt1, Guo and coworkers [31] studied the interaction of carboplatin, cisplatin and other platinum compounds with a Met- and His-rich 20 mer peptide (hCtr1-N20)



Fig. 2. Speciation in carbonate buffer as a function of pH at 37 °C.

corresponding to the N-terminal domain of hCtr1. Electrospray ionization (ESI) mass spectrometry (MS) measurements as a function of time showed that carboplatin and cisplatin react with the Met residues of the peptide and, after initial binding of Met thioether ligands to Pt<sup>2+</sup>, the bound thioether groups cause the rapid loss of the *cis*-ammonia ligands of carboplatin and cisplatin via the well known *trans effect*. As expected, the presence of the CBDCA ligand causes the reaction of carboplatin with the peptide to be slower than the corresponding reaction with cisplatin and there was no evidence for a stable ring-opened species in the reaction of carboplatin with hCrt1-N20.

Franz and coworkers [32] also studied the interaction of carboplatin with peptide fragments having sequences corresponding to the N-terminal (extracellular) domain of hCrt1. A combination of liquid chromatography and mass spectrometry confirmed that carboplatin is slower to react than cisplatin with the Met residues of the peptide. After approximately 48 h, carboplatin completely reacted with the peptide in the process, releasing the CBDCA and ammonia ligands from the Pt<sup>2+</sup> ion of the drug. Since the binding interaction of carboplatin with hCrt1 is too slow to be clinically relevant and all ligands originally bound to the Pt<sup>2+</sup> ion are displaced by peptide donors, transport of carboplatin into the cell via the copper transporter hCrt1 appears unlikely.

#### 4. Activation of carboplatin

#### 4.1. Chloride and phosphate as activating agents

In an effort to study reactions that carboplatin might undergo in the body that would provide a basis for activating the drug through displacement of part or all of the CBDCA ligand. Sadler and coworkers investigated the reaction of carboplatin with chloride and phosphate, which in blood and the cytosol have concentrations of 105 and 5, and 10 and 80 mM, respectively [14,33]. These researchers found that the pseudo first order rate constants at pH 7, 37 °C for the reaction of carboplatin with chloride and phosphate are  $k_1 = 7.7 \times 10^{-7} \text{ s}^{-1}$  and  $k_1 = 4.3 \pm 0.2 \times 10^{-7} \text{ s}^{-1}$ , respectively, showing that under these conditions reaction of carboplatin with chloride is slightly faster than with phosphate (14). They also showed that the reaction of carboplatin with chloride produces cis-[Pt(CBDCA-O)(Cl)(NH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>]<sup>-</sup>, while its reaction with phosphate produces *cis*-[Pt(CBDCA-O)(HPO<sub>4</sub>)(NH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>]<sup>2-</sup>. Sadler and coworkers measured similar rate constants for the reaction of carboplatin with 5'-GMP in the presence and absence of 140 mM chloride in phosphate buffer, and suggested that activation by chloride, i.e., displacement of the CBDCA ligand, is not important in this reaction. Beck and coworkers showed that aging carboplatin in NaCl, which displaces the CBDCA ligand, produced platinum species that were more toxic to E. coli PQ37 than was un-aged carboplatin, and that increasing the incubation time increased the cytotoxicity of the carboplatin solution [34].

### 4.2. Activation in carbonate buffer

The most important hydrogen ion controlling buffer in the body is the carbonate buffer system which has concentrations in blood and the cytosol of ~24 and ~12 mM, respectively [35,36]. This buffer consists of dissolved carbon dioxide, CO<sub>2</sub>, carbonic acid H<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, hydrogen carbonate, HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, and carbonate, CO<sub>3</sub><sup>2–</sup>, all of which are in equilibrium with one another according to Eq. (1)

$$\operatorname{CO}_2(\operatorname{aq}) + \operatorname{H}_2\operatorname{O} \rightleftharpoons \operatorname{H}_2\operatorname{CO}_3 \rightleftharpoons \operatorname{HCO}_3^- + \operatorname{H}^+ \rightleftharpoons \operatorname{CO}_3^{-2} + 2\operatorname{H}^+ \tag{1}$$

In aqueous solution, the concentration of dissolved or aquated carbon dioxide is related to the partial pressure of CO<sub>2</sub> in the atmosphere above the solution by Henry's law, Eq. (2), where  $K_H$  at 25 °C is 0.03416 mol kg<sup>-1</sup> atm<sup>-1</sup>



Fig. 3. Reactions of carbonate buffer components with metal complexes. (a) Reaction of carbon dioxide with a metal hydroxo complex to produce a hydrogen carbonato complex. The latter is in proton equilibrium with a carbonato complex that can be mono- or bi-dentate toward the metal ion. (b) Reaction of hydrogen carbonate/carbonate with a metal complex through a ligand displacement reaction.



Fig. 4. Reaction of carboplatin with carbonate.

$$\frac{[\text{CO}_2(\text{aq})]}{P_{\text{CO}_2}} = K_H \tag{2}$$

In biological fluids, some of the dissolved  $CO_2$  reacts with water (see Eq. (1)) to form carbonic acid,  $H_2CO_3$ , according to the equilibrium expression in Eq. (3)

$$\frac{[H_2CO_3]}{[CO_2(aq)]} = K_x \tag{3}$$

Values of  $1/K_x$  have been reported [37] for NaCl solutions at temperatures between 15.0 and 32.5 °C. Linear extrapolation of the results for 27.5–32.5 °C gives  $K_x = 0.0011145$  at 37 °C. Since  $K_x$  is so small, [H<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>] is small, and often the sum of [CO<sub>2</sub>] and [H<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>] is simply denoted by [CO<sub>2</sub>'] or [CO<sub>2</sub>\*]. The first ionization constant,  $K_a = 10^{-6.35}$  at 25 °C, commonly referred to as the acid ionization constant of carbonic acid H<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, actually refers to the equilibrium in Eq. (4)

$$\frac{[\mathrm{H}^+][\mathrm{HCO}_3^-]}{[\mathrm{CO}_2']} = K_a \tag{4}$$

Park et al. [38] have measured  $K_a$  from 25 to 175 °C and given  $pK_a$  as a power series in *T*, from which we calculate  $pK_a = 6.297$  and  $K_a = 5.049 \times 10^{-7}$  M at 37 °C. Thus, the true acid ionization constant of carbonic acid is actually given by Eq. (5)

$$\frac{[\mathrm{H}^+][\mathrm{HCO}_3^-]}{[\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{CO}_3]} = K_a \frac{[\mathrm{CO}_2']}{[\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{CO}_3]} \approx \frac{K_a}{K_x} = 4.453 \times 10^{-4}$$
(5)

so that  $pK_a(H_2CO_3) = 3.344$ . The ionization constant of bicarbonate is simply Eq. (6)

$$\frac{[\mathrm{H}^+][\mathrm{CO}_3^{2^-}]}{[\mathrm{HCO}_3^-]} = K_b = 10^{-10.16}$$
(6)

where  $pK_b$  was obtained from the review by Eremenko [39], who gives recommended values of  $K_b$  over a range of temperatures including 37 °C. By interpolation we derive  $K_b = 6.87 \times 10^{-11}$ .

Using the values for  $K_x$ ,  $K_a$ , and  $K_b$  cited above, one can calculate the relative amounts of all four species present in a carbonate buffer at equilibrium at any desired pH at 37 °C, Fig. 2. Since these relative amounts (fraction of species on the *y*-axis) are, of course, independent of total concentration of carbonate buffer present in solution, the plot allows the determination of the species distribution in a carbonate buffer as a function of pH. At pH 7.4, the main carbonate buffer components in blood and the cytosol are dissolved CO<sub>2</sub>,  $\sim$ 2 and  $\sim$ 1 mM, respectively, and hydrogen carbonate,  $\sim$ 23 and  $\sim$ 11 mM, respectively.

Extensive work has shown that metal complexes containing bound hydrogen carbonate or carbonate ligands, which can be collectively referred to as "carbonato complexes", can form via rapid addition of carbon dioxide gas to a metal hydroxo species, Fig. 3a, or by a slower route involving ligand displacement by carbonate or hydrogencarbonate, Fig. 3b [40-44]. Second-order rate constants of 37-590 M<sup>-1</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> at 25 °C have been reported for the reaction of dissolved CO<sub>2</sub> gas with hydroxo complexes of cobalt, chromium, iridium, rhodium, and zinc [40], which results in the initial formation of a hydrogen carbonato complex. Depending on the nature of the metal ion, its charge and the pH of the medium, the initially formed hydrogen carbonato complex can lose a proton to give a monodentate carbonato complex or, if the ligand cis to the carbonate is easily displaced, the monodentate carbonate ligand can attach the metal ion by loss of the cis ligand to form a bidentate carbonato complex. Since all carbonato complexes are in equilibrium with carbon dioxide gas, if the gas is allowed to escape from the system, the originally formed carbonato complexes can decompose to their aqua/hydroxo precursors through the loss of CO<sub>2</sub>, Fig. 3a [40–45]. Although some hydrogen carbonato complexes are stable enough to be characterized using X-ray analysis [46], others, cobalt, iridium, and rhodium [40,45] are unstable, and loose  $CO_2$  with rate constants of 0.25–4.40 s<sup>-1</sup> at 25 °C.

Using [<sup>1</sup>H, <sup>15</sup>N] HSQC NMR, <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR and UV-Visible spectroscopy, we showed that carboplatin reacts with physiological carbonate buffer, to produce platinum-carbonato and -hydroxo species, Fig. 4 [11,47,48]. Increasing pH at a constant total carbonate concentration, or increasing the total carbonate concentration at a constant pH, leads to an increase in the rate of reaction of carboplatin in carbonate buffer [11]. Since the concentration of carbonate ion,  $CO_3^{2-}$ , increases when either total carbonate or pH increases, the attacking nucleophile in the ring opening reaction of carboplatin is carbonate ion which is actually one of the minor components of the carbonate buffer system at pH 7.4, Fig. 2. Thus, carboplatin reacts with carbonate ion  $(k_1 = 2.04 \pm 0.81 \times 10^{-6} \text{ in})$ 24 mM carbonate buffer, pH 7.5 at 37 °C) to produce carbonato carboplatin, cis-[Pt(NH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>(CBDCA-O)(CO<sub>3</sub>)]<sup>2-</sup>, which is in proton equilibrium with a hydrogen carbonato species, cis-[Pt(NH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>(CBDCA-O) (HCO<sub>3</sub>)]<sup>-</sup>. The latter complex rapidly decarboxylates to the monohydroxo complex, cis-[Pt(NH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>(CBDCA-0)(OH)]<sup>-</sup>. Although the latter complex can also be produced by the reaction of carboplatin with OH<sup>-</sup>, the values of  $k_1$  measured using [<sup>1</sup>H, <sup>15</sup>N] HSQC NMR show that reaction with hydroxide is less important than the reaction of the drug with carbonate. Once the ring is opened, other compounds form, including cis-[Pt(NH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>(CO<sub>3</sub>)(OH)]<sup>-</sup>, which can also be produced by the reaction of cisplatin in a carbonate buffer [48,49].

Complete cell culture medium (culture medium plus fetal bovine serum) is similar in composition to blood; thus, studies performed in RPMI culture medium offer insight into the behavior of carboplatin in vivo. Such studies confirmed that carbonate is one of the most important nucleophiles in culture medium for the activation of carboplatin [11]. The pseudo-first-order rate constant for the disappearance of the [<sup>1</sup>H, <sup>15</sup>N] HSQC NMR peak for <sup>15</sup>N-labeled carboplatin in complete cell culture medium is approximately 1.5 times larger than that obtained for the disappearance of carboplatin in medium without carbonate. This disappearance is due to nucleophiles reacting with carboplatin, resulting in species that are ringopened or have the CBDCA ligand completely displaced from the Pt<sup>2+</sup> ion. Chaney and coworkers also recognized the importance of NaHCO<sub>3</sub> as an activating agent by showing that carbonate present in tissue culture medium can displace the malonate chelate ring of a Pt<sup>2+</sup> antitumor agent structurally related to carboplatin [50].

The mechanistic implications of the activation of carboplatin in carbonate buffer have also been investigated. Aging carboplatin in carbonate buffer, pH 8.4-8.6, produces species that are more toxic to human neuroblastoma (SK-N-SH) and Namalwa-luc Burkitt's lymphoma (BL) cancer cells, and proximal renal tubule (HK-2) cells. We also showed that Jurkat cells that have been made resistant to cisplatin by continual exposure to the drug have reduced capacity to bind/take up platinum when in contact with solutions containing significant concentrations of carboplatin-carbonate reaction products [47]. This is probably because the resistant cells were selected for their ability to survive higher concentrations of cisplatin, and their survival is associated with mechanisms to prevent platinum from entering cells and/or rapidly removing platinum from cells by an efflux mechanism. Since some of the products shown on the right side of Fig. 4 are the same as those identified in the cisplatin system [48,49], and the cells were made resistant to these species, it is not surprising that the resistant cells exhibit reduced uptake of the platinum compounds in carbonate aged carboplatin.

Osella and coworkers also studied the activation of carboplatin by carbonate, using a DNA-biosensor with a sensing element capable of immobilizing DNA on the surface of a screen-printed electrode [51]. In these studies, calf thymus DNA was incubated with carboplatin in either 24 mM phosphate or carbonate buffers for various times, the biosensor was dipped into a solution containing platinum, and the amount of Pt binding to the guanine bases on DNA measured using square wave voltammetry (SWV). The study showed that in carbonate buffer, carboplatin forms species that can bind to the guanine bases of DNA. The ability of carbonate buffer to produce carboplatin species that can bind to and unwind supercoiled DNA has also been reported. When carboplatin is aged in a carbonate buffer and then added to a 24 mM HEPES (pH 7.4) buffered solution containing pBR322 DNA, the platinum species in the medium bind to and unwind supercoiled Form I DNA [52]. Since Form I DNA co-migrates with nicked circular Form II DNA at some value of *r*, where *r* = [drug]/[DNA-bp], the carbonate aged carboplatin species in the HEPES buffer system act like cisplatin in that they appear to produce the classic 1,2-intrastrand crosslink on DNA [8]. However, when the carbonate aged carboplatin species are reacted with DNA in a two buffer system, 24 mM HEPES plus 24 mM carbonate (pH 7.4) the mobilities of Forms I and II pBR322 DNA do not change, indicating that the carbonate that is present in the buffer either blocks the binding of the carbonate aged carboplatin species to DNA or that binding without a change in DNA supercoiling occurs.

#### 4.3. Interaction of carboplatin with amino acids

Since sulfur in a thiolate or thioether is considered a soft base and  $Pt^{2+}$  is a soft acid [53], investigators have focused on the ability of cysteine and methionine, or peptides and proteins containing these amino acids, to react with carboplatin [20,54-60]. Sadler and coworkers showed that the reaction of carboplatin with methionine is rapid,  $k = 2.7 \times 10^{-3} \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$  at 25 °C, and results in the formation of a stable ring-opened species, cis-[Pt(CBDCA-O)(NH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>(L-HMet-S)], which has a long half-life [55]. These authors suggested that this reaction may play a role in the biological activity of carboplatin. From this, the rate constant for the reaction of carboplatin with 0.1 mM L-methionine, the concentration of L-methionine in RPMI culture medium [50], is approximately  $2.7 \times 10^{-7} \text{ s}^{-1}$ . While a thioether group can readily displace the bidentate chelate ring of carboplatin, the resulting platinummethionine adduct is thermodynamically stable, which could make transfer of the platinum to a target via breakage of the Pt-S bond difficult [63]. For example, a *cis*-(NH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>Pt<sup>2+</sup> moiety which is bound to the terminal Met1 of ubiquitin cannot be transferred to a potential DNA target, 5'-GMP [61]. However, for certain structures containing both a thioether group and a DNA base, the initially formed Pt-S adduct can rearrange to the Pt-base adduct [62]. This suggests that reaction of carboplatin with a thioether could be a means of activating the drug in vivo. Sheldrick and coworkers showed that a thioether group in a tripeptide can displace the bidentate dicarboxylate ligand of carboplatin and labilize the ammonia molecule trans to the thioether-ultimately leading to the replacement of all of the ligands of carboplatin with donors from the peptide [58]. Interestingly, although carboplatin reacts relatively fast with methionine, the reaction of drug with cysteine is slow [55]; Sadler and coworkers suggested that hydrolysis may be the rate-limiting step in this reaction [55].

#### 4.4. Interaction with GSH and MT

The two most abundant cellular thiols are glutathione (GSH) and metallothionein (MT) [63]. Hagrman et al. showed that the pseudo-first-order rate constant for reaction of carboplatin with 6.75 mM GSH in HEPES buffer containing 4.62 mM NaCl, 37 °C, is  $k_1 \approx 9.5 \pm 2.8 \times 10^{-6} \text{ s}^{-1}$  [60]; cells typically contain 2 mM glutathione. The second-order rate constant for the reaction of carboplatin with the fully loaded Cd<sup>2+</sup>/Zn<sup>2+</sup> form of MT in HEPES buffer containing NaCl, 37 °C, is  $0.0121 \pm 0.0039 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$  [63]. From these data, the pseudo first order rate constant for the reaction of carboplatin with a physiologically relevant concentration of MT (~2 mM) is,  $k_1 \sim 8 \times 10^{-6} \text{ s}^{-1}$ . Interestingly, Holler and coworkers showed that the rate of reaction of carboplatin with calf thymus DNA is significantly increased in the presence of L-methionine (thioether), thiourea, and glutathione (thiol), and similar results were obtained using cytosolic extracts from MCF-7 breast cancer cells. This suggests that the product of reaction of carboplatin with these sulfur nucleophiles, most likely a Pt<sup>2+</sup>–S adduct, can bind to DNA. These observations are consistent with Shi et al. who showed that the Pt<sup>2+</sup> product resulting from the reduction of a Pt<sup>4+</sup> complex with GSH is competent to bind to DNA. A similar conclusion was reached by Volckova et al. who showed that while, adduct formation is reduced, some cisplatin can bind to DNA in the presence of GSH. [64,65].

## 5. Conclusions

In this short review, we discussed the chemistry of carboplatin, from its remarkable stability in the ready-to-use infusion solution used in the clinic, to the activation by carbonate and other nucleophiles that makes it more reactive toward substances present in the cell. Understanding the chemistry of a frequently used drug like carboplatin is critical for the development of new and improved platinum-based anticancer agents.

#### References

- [1] T. Boulikas, M. Vougiouka, Oncol. Rep. 10 (2003) 1663.
- [2] D.N. Church, A. Bahl, Cancer Treat. Rev. 32 (2006) 588.
- [3] S. Fu, J.J. Kavanagh, W. Hu, R.C. Bast, Int. J. Gynecol. Cancer 16 (2006) 1717.
- [4] H. Choy, Expert Rev. Anticancer Ther. 6 (2006) 973.
- [5] L.M. Pasetto, M.R. D'Andrea, A.A. Brandes, E. Rossi, S. Monfardini, Crit. Rev. Oncol. Hematol. 60 (2006) 59.
- [6] R.J. Knox, F. Friedlos, D.A. Lydall, J.J. Roberts, Cancer Res. 46 (1986) 1972.
- [7] R.N. Bose, Mini. Rev. Med. Chem. 2 (2002) 103.
- [8] J.C. Dabrowiak, Metals in Medicine, Wiley, Chichester, UK, 2009.
- [9] R.A. Alderden, M.D. Hall, T.W. Hambley, J. Chem. Educ. 83 (2006) 728.
- [10] W.J.F. Van der Vijgh, Clin. Pharmacokinet. 21 (1991) 242.
- [11] A.J. Di Pasqua, J. Goodisman, D.J. Kerwood, B.B. Toms, R.L. Dubowy, J.C. Dabrowiak, Chem. Res. Toxicol. 19 (2006) 139.
- [12] E. Brandšteterová, F. Kiss, V. Chovancova, V. Reichelova, Neoplasma 38 (1991) 415.
- [13] L. Canovese, L. Cattalini, G. Chessa, M.L. Tobe, J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1 (1988) 2135.
- [14] U. Frey, J.D. Ranford, P.J. Sadler, Inorg. Chem. 32 (1993) 1333.
- [15] S.E. Miller, K.J. Gerard, D.A. House, Inorg. Chim. Acta 190 (1991) 135.
- [16] http://www.mhra.gov.uk/home/groups/lunit1/documents/websiteresources/ con2025642.pdf (accessed, 8/05/10).
- [17] B. Schnurr, H. Heinrich, R. Gust, Microchim. Acta 140 (2002) 141.
- [18] A.J. Di Pasqua, D.J. Kerwood, Y. Shi, J. Goodisman, J.C. Dabrowiak, Dalton Trans. 40 (2011) 4821.
- [19] R.B. Burns, R.W. Burton, S.P. Albon, L. Embree, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 14 (1996) 367.
- [20] Q. Liu, J. Lin, P. Jiang, J. Zhang, L. Zhu, Z. Guo, Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. (2002) 2170.
- [21] K. Vivekanandan, M.G. Swamy, S. Prasad, G.C. Maikap, R. Mukherjee, A.C. Burman, Int. J. Pharm. 313 (2006) 214.
- [22] A.J. Di Pasqua, S. Wallner, D.J. Kerwood, J.C. Dabrowiak, Chem. Biodivers. 6 (2009) 1343.
- [23] S. Neidle, I.M. Ismailand, P.J. Sadler, J. Inorg. Biochem. 13 (1980) 205.
- [24] A.J. Di Pasqua, J. Goodisman, D.J. Kerwood, B.B. Toms, J.C. Dabrowiak, J. Inorg. Biochem. 101 (2007) 1438.
- [25] R. Xie, W. Johnson, L. Rodriguez, M. Gounder, G.S. Hall, B. Buckley, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 387 (2007) 2815.
- [26] M. Sooriyaarachchi, A. Narendran, J. Gailer, Metallomics 3 (2011) 49.
- [27] A. Ghezzi, M. Aceto, C. Cassino, E. Gabano, D. Osella, J. Inorg. Biochem. 98 (2004) 73.
- [28] E. Pereira-Maia, A. Garnier-Suillerot, J. Biol. Inorg. Chem. 8 (2003) 626.
   [29] P.A. Andrews, in: L.R. Kelland, N. Farrell (Eds.), Platinum Based Drugs in Cancer Therapy, Humana Press Inc., Totowa, NJ, 2000, pp. 89–113.
- [30] S.B. Howell, R. Safaei, C.A. Larson, M.J. Sailor, Mol. Pharmacol. 77 (2010) 887.

- [31] Z. Wu, Q. Liu, X. Liang, X. Yang, N. Wang, X. Wang, H. Sun, Y. Lu, Z. Guo, J. Biol. Inorg. Chem. 14 (2009) 1313.
- [32] S.E. Crider, R.J. Holbrook, K.J. Franz, Metallomics 2 (2010) 74.
- [33] G.T. Tortora, N.P. Anagnostakos, Principles of Anatomy and Physiology, Canfield Press, Harper and Row, New York, 1978.
- [34] T.L. Overbeck, J.M. Knight, D.J. Beck, Mutation Res. 362 (1996) 249.
- [35] E. Gross, I. Kurtz, Am. J. Physiol. Renal. Physiol. 283 (2002) F876.
- [36] J.R. Casey, Biochem. Cell Biol. 84 (2006) 930.
- [37] A.L. Soli, R.H. Byrne, Marine Chem. 78 (2002) 65.
- [38] S.N. Park, C.S. Kim, M.H. Kim, I.-J. Lee, K. Kim, J. Chem. Soc. Faraday Trans. 94 (1998) 1421.
- [39] V. Ya Eremenko, Gidrochimicheskie Materialy 28 (1959) 233.
- [40] D. Palmer, R. van Eldik, Chem. Rev. 83 (1983) 651.
- [41] G. Mahal, R. van Eldik, Inorg. Chem. 24 (1985) 4165.
- [42] D.A. Palmer, G.M. Harris, Inorg. Chem. 13 (1974) 965.
- [43] Z.-W. Mao, G. Liehr, R. van Eldik, J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. (2001) 1593.
- [44] D.A. Palmer, R. van Eldik, G.M. Harris, Inorg. Chem. 19 (1980) 1009.
- [45] Y. Kitamura, L. Yano, K. Fujimori, R. Mizuki, M. Hayashi, A. Shibata, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 73 (2000) 2025.
- [46] Z.-W. Mao, G. Liehr, R. van Eldik, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 122 (2000) 4839.
- [47] A.J. Di Pasqua, J. Goodisman, D.J. Kerwood, B.B. Toms, R.L. Dubowy, J.C. Dabrowiak, Chem. Res. Toxicol. 20 (2007) 896.
- [48] A.J. Di Pasqua, C.R. Centerwall, D.J. Kerwood, J.C. Dabrowiak, Inorg. Chem. 48 (2009) 1192.
- [49] C.R. Centerwall, J. Goodisman, D.J. Kerwood, J.C. Dabrowiak, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 127 (2005) 12768.
- [50] S.K. Mauldin, M. Plescia, F.A. Richard, S.D. Wyrick, R.D. Voyksner, S.G. Chaney, Biochem. Pharmacol. 37 (1988) 3321.
- [51] M. Ravera, G. Bagni, M. Mascini, J.C. Dabrowiak, D. Osella, J. Inorg. Biochem. 101 (2007) 1023.
- [52] R.S. Sorokanich, A.J. Di Pasqua, M. Geier, J.C. Dabrowiak, Chem. Biodivers. 5 (2008) 1540.
- [53] J.E. Huheey, E.A. Keiter, R.L. Keiter, Inorganic Chemistry, Principles of Structure and Reactivity, 4th ed., Harper Collins, 1993.
- [54] G. Natarajan, R. Malathi, E. Holler, Biochem. Pharmacol. 58 (1999) 1625.
- [55] K.J. Barnham, M.I. Djuran, P.S. Murdoch, J.D. Ranford, P.J. Sadler, Inorg. Chem. 35 (1996) 1065.
- [56] K.J. Barnham, U. Frey, P. Murdoch, J.D. Ranford, P.J. Sadler, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 116 (1994) 11175.
- [57] J.D. Ranford, P.J. Sadler, K. Balmanno, D.R. Newell, Magn. Reson. Chem. 29 (1991) S125.
- [58] M. Kleine, D. Wolters, W.S. Sheldrick, J. Inorg. Biochem. 97 (2003) 354.
- [59] A. Kung, D.K. Strickmann, M. Galanski, B.K. Keppler, J. Inorg. Biochem. 86
- (2001) 691. [60] D. Hagrman, J. Goodisman, A.-K. Souid, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 308 (2004) 658.
- [61] T. Peleg-Shulman, Y. Najajreh, D.J. Gibson, Inorg. Biochem. 91 (2002) 306.
- [62] J. Reedijk, Chem. Rev. 99 (1999) 2499.
- [63] J. Goodisman, D. Hagrman, K.A. Tacka, A.-K. Souid, Cancer Chemother.
- Pharmacol. 57 (2006) 257.
- [64] Y. Shi, S.-A. Liu, D.J. Deborah, J. Goodisman, J.C. Dabrowiak, J. Inorg. Biochem. 107 (2012) 6.
- [65] E. Volckova, L.P. Dudones, R.N. Bose, Pharm. Res. 19 (2002) 124.